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MEMORANDUM 
RE:  House Committee on Education and the Workforce, Hearing on “Examining the Policies 
and Priorities of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services” 
 

June 6, 2018, 9:45 AM, 2175 Rayburn 
[HEARING LINK] 

Overview: 
The House Committee on Education and Workforce and Secretary of Health and Human Services 
Alex Azar discussed the priorities and policies of HHS. Questions were asked about the treatment of 
children at the border, affordable health care, and the proposed Medicaid and Medicare cuts. 
Bipartisan agreement formed regarding that action needs to be taken against the opioid crisis and 
with struggling rural hospitals. A point of contention was the effectiveness of implementing work 
requirements to receive welfare. There were discussions about moving authority from the federal 
level down to states, particularly with Head Start and early childhood development programs.  
 
Opening Statement Summaries: 
Committee Chairwoman Virginia Foxx (R-NC) [Opening Statement Link] 
Good morning, and welcome to today’s hearing. We’re pleased to welcome the Honorable Alex Azar, 
Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services, to his first hearing with the 
Committee on Education and the Workforce. 
 
I’m especially pleased to note that this hearing comes just after Secretary Azar has celebrated his 
three-month anniversary in his new position. Mr. Secretary, we can’t find another cabinet secretary in 
recent memory that has made an oversight hearing with this committee such an early priority. Thank 
you.  
 
Programs such as Head Start, the Child Care Development Block Grant, and Preschool Development 
Grants, laws like the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act and the Older Americans Act, and 
many antipoverty initiatives require a productive and accountable relationship between this 
Committee and the Department of Health and Human Services.  In recent years, that relationship has 
become even more crucial as millions of Americans have suffered under the mounting failures of 
Obamacare. Dwindling coverage options and soaring health care costs have left American employers 
and the families that rely on them with few choices and hard decisions. It’s estimated that 
Obamacare’s costs and mandates have resulted in roughly $19 billion in lost wages for small 
business employees.  
 
As the Small Business Health Fairness Act continues to await long-overdue action by the Senate, we 
hope Secretary Azar can provide some update today on the status of his Department’s efforts to 
reverse the damage of Obamacare and improve access to healthcare for millions of working families. 
 
Just before and again shortly after Secretary Azar assumed leadership of the Department, this 
Committee held hearings about how the opioid epidemic is affecting communities and workplaces. 
Members of this Committee have worked together to find bipartisan legislative solutions that we all 
hope can bring some stability, health, and healing to our communities.  
 

https://edworkforce.house.gov/calendar/eventsingle.aspx?EventID=402801
https://edworkforce.house.gov/uploadedfiles/6.6.18_chairwoman_opening_statement.pdf
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Secretary Azar, it’s a pleasure to welcome you to the Education and Workforce Committee. Thank 
you, again, for making this hearing a priority. I understand that after this hearing was scheduled, 
President Trump let you know that he had plans for you today as well. Every Member of Congress 
knows how it feels to have to be in two, sometimes three places at once, so we’re going to try to 
make the most of our time together.  
 
I’ll now yield to Ranking Member Scott for his opening remarks. 
 
 
Committee Ranking Member Bobby Scott (D-VA) [Opening Statement Link] 
This is the first time an official from the Department of Health and Human Services has appeared 
before this Committee since President Trump took office.  
 
The mission of Department of Health and Human Services is to enhance and protect the health and 
well-being of all Americans. Unfortunately, this Administration frequently appears to be more focused 
on advancing an ideology than fulfilling that mission. Despite Congress’s inability to repeal the 
Affordable Care Act and the public’s resounding opposition to both repealing and sabotaging the law, 
the Administration continues to destabilize the health care system.  
 
I am also deeply troubled by the Administration’s efforts to erode civil rights protections under the 
guise of religious liberty.  Lastly, I am profoundly disappointed by the Administration’s efforts to 
weaken the programs that help people meet their basic needs. In the wake of a $1.9 trillion tax cut, 
overwhelmingly focused for corporations and the top one percent, the president’s proposed cuts to 
basic services that support struggling individuals and families across the country is particularly difficult 
to justify. 
 
As the lead agency directed to improve American’s health and wellbeing, I am surprised that this 
Department would support a budget the restricts families’ access to essentials like health care, 
heating assistance, and food.  
 
While I appreciate the continued engagement on areas where there may be some common ground, 
such as doing more to address the opioid crisis, we must get clarity on the Department’s priorities and 
ensure the Department is accountable and faithfully executing the law.  I look forward, Mr. Secretary, 
to your testimony and for your continued cooperation as we conduct this vital oversight. Thank you 
and I yield back the balance of my time. 
 
 
Witness Testimony: 
The Honorable Alex Azar, Secretary, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [Testimony] 
 
Q&A: 
Committee Chairwoman Virginia Foxx (R-NC): Americans across the US are struggling with the 
opioid addiction. We’ve held 3 hearings on this. Members introduced 4 bipartisan bills to target areas 
impacted by opioids. How is HHS working to combat the opioid epidemic as outlined in the FY 2019 
budget, including engagement with educators and local communities? 
Sec. Azar: The opioid crisis is a bipartisan issue. The opioid funding in the omnibus is clear evidence 
of that. The $3.5 billion requested in the 2019 budget will support the NIH’s public-private partnership 

https://democrats-edworkforce.house.gov/imo/media/doc/RCBS%20OS_Azar.pdf
https://democrats-edworkforce.house.gov/imo/media/doc/Secretary%20Azar_HHS%20FY19%20Budget%20Testimony%20Education%20and%20Workforce.pdf
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to innovate on non-opioid treatments of pain and research of nonprescription alternatives to treating 
pain. We’re putting out state grants. 
Committee Chairwoman Virginia Foxx (R-NC): 2014 reauthorization of Childcare and Development 
block grant added new requirements for comprehensive criminal background checks. The new 
deadline for compliance is Sept 30, 2018. To my knowledge, no state has fully implemented the 
requirements. Given background checks play a significant role in keeping children safe, how does 
granting additional waivers protect the children? 
Sec. Azar: We expect states to use the increased funding in the most recent appropriations to get 
into compliance. There are some technical issues with some states. 
 
Committee Ranking Member Bobby Scott (D-VA): You indicated reducing prices of health 
insurance. Were you aware that eliminating the individual mandates will increase cost of premiums?  
Sec. Azar: We have a proposal to restore Obama’s initiative to have 12 month long limited duration 
health plans that would lower costs by making plans affordable. 
Committee Ranking Member Bobby Scott (D-VA): Should strongly held religious beliefs be able to 
override other civil rights protections? 
Sec. Azar: We work to enforce the laws Congress put in place around non-discrimination. 
 
Rep. David Roe (R-TN): I agree with ACA’s premise of lowering cost and increasing access. 
Prescription drug costs – where does money go when I get charged extra for a prescription if I get the 
prescription at a pharmacy while I’m traveling instead of my home pharmacy?  
Sec. Azar: We’ve issued instructions to Part D drug plans about the gag rules that would prevent 
pharmacists from telling you that you could pay cash for that generic drug cheaper than running 
through your insurance. 
Rep. David Roe (R-TN): The Medicare Wage Index makes it difficult for us to get physicians and to 
keep staff. It’s putting rural areas in trouble. 
 
Rep. Gregorio Kilili Camacho Sablan (D-Mariana Islands): The new Medicare score card includes 
the 50 states and DC but doesn’t include non-state areas. I understand the data was submitted 
voluntary. Could you make sure all can participate? 
Sec. Azar: I will work to ensure your constituents are included in the next iteration. 
Rep. Gregorio Kilili Camacho Sablan (D-Mariana Islands): Americans living in Marianas are not 
given the same level of Medicaid assistance as other Americans. 
 
Rep. Lou Barletta (R-PA): I hear in my district about the importance of community pharmacies. CMS 
has recognized the issues with DIR fees and how they affect pharmacy businesses. DIR fees are 
detrimental to Part D beneficiaries and providers. 
Sec. Azar: I’ve asked our inspector general to look into this issue. 
 
Rep. Susan Davis (D-CA): Your agency is responsible for implementing the expanded global gag 
rule that we know as the Mexico City policy. It prohibits foreign organizations receiving global health 
funding from providing information, referrals, and services for legal abortions or advocating for 
abortion legalization. Last time this happened, abortions rose by 20%. What is the evidence that this 
decision would reduce abortion rates or benefit women? 
Sec. Azar: An important Administration policy is that no federal dollars go to abortion services 
abroad. No HHS grantees were unable to comply with the demands.  
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Rep. Bradley Byrne (R-AL): We have a crisis in rural America, particularly in AL regarding our small 
hospitals. We’re going to continue losing more hospitals. Our central problem is the Medicare Wage 
Index. What can we do about the index? 
Sec. Azar: This is statutory issue, and we will work with Congress. We believe it needs to be 
addressed on a bipartisan issue. 
 
Rep. Joe Courtney (D-CT): We’re weeks away from insurance regulators receiving rate requests. 
The Department’s inability to clearly state your intention regarding broad loading of CSR premium 
cost is creating instability. 
 
Rep. Jason Lewis (R-MN): Federal childcare and development block grant program aims to foster 
healthy childhood development by improving quality and access to low income families for childcare. 
It provides states some flexibility. In MN, we have a number of daycare providers who are openly 
violating federal and state regulations. What is HHS doing to investigate this? 
Sec. Azar: We are integrated with MN Human Services on this issue. 
Rep. Jason Lewis (R-MN): There was another HHS program: the community service block grant 
providing federal funds to the community action agency in MN. It was actually used for personal 
expenses. Couldn’t we come up with stricter enforcement for oversight? 
Sec. Azar: We had an issue with too much flexibility with that block grant and we requested that 
program be eliminated. 
 
Rep. Marcia Fudge (D-OH): If your job is to promote health and wellbeing of Americans, why are you 
cutting billions from Medicaid despite the President’s promise not to cut Medicaid? Why are you 
cutting preschool development grants and community service block grants? Why are you eliminating 
light/heat funding? I request you respond in writing. 
 
Rep. Jim Banks (R-IN): I want to thank you and the Department’s efforts regarding the Title X 
funding for abortion providers. In your opening, you mention Head Start and the Department 
supporting funding for Head Start. But your Department’s own impact study found that any benefits 
from the program were largely absent by the time the child was in 1st grade. The follow up report 
found similar, negligible impacts by the end of the 3rd grade. If the Washington approach isn’t 
working, is it time to empower the states to be more involved in developing their own early childhood 
education? Specifically, do you agree that states are in the best position to design and implement 
early childhood education and if we should block grant to the state rather than DC designing them? 
Sec. Azar: I can’t speak to formal block granting or legislation changes. The Administration doesn’t 
have a position on that. Within any authorities we have, I’d be interested in talking to Governors who 
are interested in experimenting or doing things differently in any of our programs to achieve better 
results. Governor Holcomb has ideas around Head Start and early childhood development – very 
happy to engage with him on those ideas and see what flexibilities we have, or any other governors. 
Rep. Jim Banks (R-IN): I want to talk about hospital consolidation – what impact does consolidation 
have on health care? 
Sec. Azar: Many mandates from ACA have imposed regulatory burden on providers that it has led to 
consolidation on providers to cover that overhead cost. We’re working to reduce burden. We reduced 
4 million hours of regulatory compliance. 
 
Rep. Suzanne Bonamici (D-OR): A mother from El Salvador was beaten and took her 2 children 
with her to the border to seek asylum. The children were taken from her and now under the custody 
of your department. Your Office of Refugee Resettlement states its primary consideration is in the 



House HHS Hearing on 6.6.18 5      ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOLS OF  

      ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS 

 

 

best interest of their children. Is separating parents and child in the best interest? Does your 
department have adequate resources to support the children? 
Sec. Azar: Separation only happens when parents cross the border illegally and are arrested. We 
can’t have children with parents in incarceration. It’s not a desire to separate. That’s completely 
incorrect and these children are provided full health care and education. 
 
Rep. Joe Wilson (R-SC): I’m proud to be part of the bipartisan Congressional Heroin and Opioid 
Task Force. Integral to success is addressing the overprescribing of controlled substances. Over 20 
states have adopted laws limiting the number of pills to be prescribed as opioids.  
Sec. Azar: We’re committed to reducing by 1/3 the prescription – that’s the President’s agenda. 
We’ve taken action through Part D and Medicare and we encourage states to look at best practices. 
Rep. Joe Wilson (R-SC): What steps is HHS taking to improve subsidy verification to ensure only 
eligible applications are receiving subsidies? 
Sec. Azar: I’ll get back to you on that. 
 
Rep. Mark Takano (D-CA): The President promised he wouldn’t cut Medicare and Medicaid. Did the 
President keep that promise? 1.75 million veterans and 1 in 5 children have Medicaid coverage. How 
do cuts help them? 
Sec. Azar: Restructuring Medicaid expansion and Obamacare, which prejudices in favor of able 
bodied adults against children, disabled, and aged, is what will allow the traditional Medicaid program 
to restore its focus. 
 
Rep. Tim Walberg (R-MI): Can you expand on how HHS and DOL are working to achieve affordable 
help insurance coverage? 
Sec. Azar: DOL’s proposal on association health plans will greatly expand affordable options for 
individuals. 
Rep. Tim Walberg (R-MI): What programs and policies does HHS plan to explore to implement on 
the rising costs of prescription drugs? 
Sec. Azar: We want to get list prices down. 
 
Rep. Alma Adams (D-NC): How do you reconcile of your proposed ACA repeal and cuts to Medicaid 
with Part 1 of your strategy to improve access to prevention, treatment, and recovery services. 
Sec. Azar: We think it helps restore focus on children, disabled, and aged. 
Rep. Alma Adams (D-NC): Millions suffer from opioid abuse report that treatment helps them find 
and keep their jobs illustrating that the Department’s approved Medicaid waivers and work 
requirements are counterproductive and possibly unlawful. How can your Department argue that 
these approved waivers promote the objectives of the Medicaid program as the law requires? 
Sec. Azar: We believe community engagement and supporting people to getting to work is critical to 
one’s health. In terms of individuals suffering from substance use disorder, those individuals would 
not be subject to community engagement requirements under these waivers. We’ve tried to be 
sensitive to both the categories of individuals that states would put in that and the types of activities. 
This might just include volunteering, studying, education and workforce training can qualify. 
 
Rep. Drew Ferguson (R-GA): We’ve seen recently so many young people committing violent acts. 
All too often, we may have been missing signs at home. Do you think there’s an opportunity to look at 
behavioral intervention to identify students with mental health issues? 
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Sec. Azar: I think you’re completely correct. Our existing program that our Substance Abuse and 
Mental Health services had for educators was an in-person training. We have rolled out an online, on-
demand program. 
 
Rep. Donald Norcross (D-NJ): What is your Department doing to ensure future doctors are being 
properly trained on substance abuse? 
Sec. Azar: Many states are looking to include that in their accreditation program. 
 
Rep. Lloyd Smucker (R-PA): You mention that the effective antipoverty program is helping someone 
find a job. You talk about welfare to work projects. What is the Department doing specifically under 
TANF – there’s a certain percentage of individuals who are required to engage in some work-related 
activity? How is the Department helping states implement that? There’s also a bill that moved out of 
Ways and Means Committee that would increase the percentage of individuals that are subject to 
work requirements. 
Sec. Azar: The welfare reform, TANF, was an important innovation at the time but over the last 
couple of decades, states have found ways around the workforce participation requirements and work 
training requirements. That’s why the President’s budget has called for enhanced work participation 
requirements, training requirements, and maintenance and efforts by states.  
Rep. Lloyd Smucker (R-PA): I’m aware that HHS plays a role in administrating the community 
services block grant, which supports community action agencies. I’ve introduced a bipartisan bill (HR 
5124 Community Action Opioid Response Act of 2018) with Rep. Betty McCollum (D-MN) to 
establish a competitive grant program for community action agencies to expand their efforts to 
combat opioid misuse and addition. 
Sec. Azar: We’ve proposed eliminating the community services block grant program in its entirety.  
 
Rep. Elise Stefanik (R-NY): How can we increase access to preventative care? I co-introduced the 
Primary Care Patient Protection Act of 2018 (HR 5858), which creates primary care benefit for all high 
deductible health plan holders. I also focus that our community health centers are fully funded and 
have continuity over a period of years. I introduced the CHIME Act (HR 3770 Community Health 
Investment, Modernization, and Excellence Act of 2017) which would reauthorize that program for 5 
years.  
Sec. Azar: We fully support telehealth and alternative health providers. 
 
Rep. Mark DeSaulnier (D-CA):  Given your background with public-private partnerships, what’s the 
right return on investment to get these public-private partnerships the continuing power of public 
investment and research? 
Sec. Azar: The market tends to determine for return on investment. We have to be careful with 
public-private partnerships. 
 
Rep. Glenn Thompson (R-PA): In April, HHS released FY18 annual performance plan and report. 
Too often we legislate new program requirements without utilizing the data collected. Information like 
this lets us know that a program is achieving its purpose. I will introduce a bill to reauthorize the 
FVPSA at current authorizing levels. 
Sec. Azar: We fully support authorization of FVPSA.  
 
Rep. Raja Krishnamoorthi (D-IL): Electronic health records were supposed to improve patient 
outcomes, and I understand CMS is taking steps to reform the system.  
 

https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/5124?q=%7B%22search%22%3A%5B%22hr5124%22%5D%7D&r=1
https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/5124?q=%7B%22search%22%3A%5B%22hr5124%22%5D%7D&r=1
https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/5858?q=%7B%22search%22%3A%5B%22primary+care+patient+protection%22%5D%7D&r=1
https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/3770?q=%7B%22search%22%3A%5B%22community+health+investment%22%5D%7D&r=2
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Rep. Brett Guthrie (R-KY): Would you explain what HHS is doing with infant opioid addiction? 
Sec. Azar: The issue of neonatal abstinence syndrome is quite a difficult one because it is such a 
novel issue. We need to build an evidence base around what is the right treatment pathway for these 
children. How can we bring them out of addiction? We have to get these neonatal abstinence 
syndrome centers up and running. 
Rep. Brett Guthrie (R-KY): How can we evaluate the efforts of states to help TANF recipients move 
back into the workforce? 
Sec. Azar: I think it’s some of the issues raised in the President’s budget. It’s how much money are 
states devoting to actual workforce training and placement. How many of their people are genuinely 
getting jobs? 
Rep. Brett Guthrie (R-KY): In the Farm Bill, the big effort is putting job training (money saved in 
SNAP to job training) so people can get jobs that lead to fulfilling careers. 
 
Rep. Adriano Espaillat (D-NY): Do you think an undocumented child’s use of CHIP should count 
against a parent’s immigration determination? 
Sec. Azar: I have not studied that issue. 
 
Rep. Karen Handel (R-GA): The acting director of DEA and I had a conversation about a DEA policy 
that says that in treating an addicted mother, she, under no circumstances, should be allowed to 
experience any withdrawal systems. Even going so far as to increasing doses at the end of the 
pregnancy which then exasperates fetal addition syndrome. There’s been a study from an Augusta 
medical facility that shows extraordinary promising results for some interagency conversation about 
this issue. 
 
Committee Ranking Member Bobby Scott (D-VA) 
We expect written questions to be responded to. I didn’t get a straight answer to my question: can 
federally funded foster care programs discriminate against potential foster care parents based on 
race, religion, or sexual orientation based on strongly held sincere religious beliefs? I didn’t get a 
straight answer from the previous 2 administrations. We also want a response to the question of 
whether or not HHS is planning to inject a religious exemption in the Healthcare Rights law under 
section 1557 of the ACA, which would allow people the protection they have under that statute.  
 
You’ve gone to great lengths to talk about the opioid addiction and how HHS is dealing with that from 
a public health perspective, which is an intelligent way to do it. We would hope you would extend that 
strategy to other drugs, where we’re using the criminal justice system which only loads up the 
prisons. It doesn’t do anything to reduce the opioid addiction. We have great back and forth on the 
separation of children by DHS and it was not clear whether HHS has the capacity to care for all of the 
children.  
 
Committee Chairwoman Virginia Foxx (R-NC) 
There’s been a lot of agreement today on the importance of oversight hearings. I really wish more 
attention would be given to asking questions that would inform the Members as opposed to so much 
time given to attacking the Secretary and what he’s doing. I want to thank the Secretary for being 
here. I think for someone who has been in such an important job that has so many technical aspects 
to it to have come here with only 3 months in the job and be able to answer straight forwardly so 
many questions, I really commend you and your staff for that.  
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We do take our responsibility of oversight very seriously. In a world where the term “fake news” is an 
increasing concern for people of all political persuasions, it’s important that we hold hearings like this 
one with individuals in authority who can give us straight factual answers to questions that may have 
been sparked from a sensational headline or an old file photo. Every Member of this committee 
recognizes that immigration is a serious issue and has been for a long time. We appreciate the 
Secretary’s comments and clarification regarding the treatment of children and families and we share 
his concern. I want to add my emphasis to questions asked by Members on the DIR fees. I have 
special concerns about this. I have met with independent pharmacists in my district and this is a 
major issue. I hope the IG will move expeditiously. I will be following up myself.  
 
I share the concern on rural hospitals. The comments that Dr. Roe made and others are a deep 
concern of mine. I have a couple very rural areas where they’re struggling to hold onto the hospitals. 
We know once the hospitals go, it very seriously damages the community. I appreciate the comments 
made about TANF and the fact that a job really is the best way to get people out of poverty. We know 
that old saying that giving someone a fish as opposed to teaching someone how to fish – we want to 
do that.  
 
We need to own up to the fact that for many of our colleagues, it is extremely difficult, especially 
those who voted for the ACA or Obamacare, to admit that that legislation contained within it the seeds 
of its own destruction. Unfortunately, everything we predicted that would go wrong with that legislation 
has gone wrong. All of us want to see people have access to affordable, effective health care but 
putting Washington in charge of that is simply not going to work. It doesn’t work anywhere else. It 
doesn’t take us long to understand that capitalism and free markets really do work. Again, we don’t 
have to look really far, just look at other countries that have tried to have management by the 
government at a central level. It hasn’t worked anymore. I’m sorry that it has failed so miserably. We 
ought to own up to it and get on our business and do everything we can to fix it. I appreciate what the 
Administration is doing. We’re doing everything we can to make it better. I want to thank you again, 
Mr. Secretary. 
 


